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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 
 

1. Whether a domestic securities transaction is subject to the 
extraterritorial application of 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) when the security’s 

company has also had continual engagement with the United States. 
 

2. Whether an employee who, at the insistence of a superior, inserts a false 

or misleading statement into investor materials, is subject to primary 
liability under 10b-5(a) or (c), even if that individual is not the maker of 
the statement for purposes of 10b-5(b).  
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 
 

In 2017, Robert Maxelrod, manager of Connecticut-based hedge fund 

Maxe Capital, sought a promising new investment. (R. at 1.) That same year, at 

its 2017 Annual Shareholder Meeting, Italian liquor company, Alcollezione, 

revealed its new hard seltzer product: Frizzantissimo. (R. at 6.) Projections for 

Alcollezione appeared promising, just before the company’s stock price tanked 

from the product’s noncompliance with applicable law. (R. at 6.) Alcollezione 

knew about the likelihood of noncompliance in advance yet failed to tell the 

public until it was too late. (R. at 5.) That conduct led to roughly a $6.1 million 

loss amongst Maxe Capital and other investors. (R. at 7.) 

Alcollezione was founded in 2009 by New York businessmen Gianni 

Marconi and Benny Factor. (R. at 1-2.) Marconi was to be the Chief Executive 

Officer and Factor was to be the Chief Financial Officer of the company. (R. at 

3.) Ava Cato, a recent Italian law school graduate, was hired to serve as the 

company’s General Counsel. (R. at 2.) Cato incorporated Alcollezione and 

established the company's headquarters in Milan, Italy. (R. at 2.) Being a new 

company, Alcollezione needed to raise substantial capital. (R. at 2.) 

In 2011, Alcollezione issued an initial public offering (IPO) for twenty 

million shares of common stock on the Italian stock exchange. (R. at 3.) Using 

the newfound cash from the IPO, Alcollezione expanded its business into the 

United States. (R. at 3.)  

Alcollezione’s drinks quickly became popular among American young 

adults. (R. at 3.) The business’s executives visited the United States during this 
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growth period. (R. at 3.) During one of these visits, an investment banker and 

friend of Factor’s, Doris Schutt (R. at 4), suggested that Alcollezione form a U.S. 

subsidiary and sponsor an American Depository Receipt (ADR) (R. at 3). 

Marconi declined the offers because of his grown tire for U.S. business. (R. at 

3.) However, later when asked why he maintained his U.S. citizenship in Italy, 

Marconi said, “I feel the way I do now, but you never know what tomorrow 

holds.” (R. at 4.)  

Schutt told Marconi that she wanted to set up an unsponsored ADR for 

Alcollezione through her position at her bank because trading on foreign 

exchanges was restricted in American investor portfolios. (R. at 4.) Marconi 

replied, “[A]ny friend of Factor’s is a friend of mine.” (R. at 4.) Afterwards, 

Schutt registered the unsponsored Alcollezione ADRs with the United States 

Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). (R. at 4.) The ADRs then traded 

over the counter (OTC) to numerous hedge fund managers throughout New 

York and Connecticut. (R. at 4.) 

In 2017, Alcollezione held its Annual Shareholders Meeting where it was 

set to announce its hard seltzer product: Frizzantissimo. (R. at 5.) Alcollezione 

provided pro forma financial statements and samples of the product to 

attendees. (R. at 6.) Both the presentation and the pro forma financial 

statements included representations drafted by Cato stating that 

Frizzantissimo would be approved and ready for market in the second quarter 

of 2018. (R. at 6.) All this information, including Cato’s regulatory assurances, 

was posted to the “Investor Relations” page of Alcollezione’s website. (R. at 6.)  
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The investors were impressed by what Alcollezione presented, causing 

the stock and ADR price to surge over eight percent following market close that 

day. (R. at 6.) The inflated prices persisted into early 2018, driven mostly by 

American hedge fund investors (R. at 6) like Maxelrod’s Maxe Capital (R. at 1). 

On March 14, 2018, however, Alcollezione’s stock and ADR price 

plummeted by twenty-nine percent and twenty-seven percent respectively. (R. 

at 6.) The crash stemmed from Alcollezione halting their Frizzantissimo 

production due to noncompliance with quality-control standards. (R. at 6.) The 

public was unaware of the risk of noncompliance at the time, but Alcollezione 

knew far before the Frizzantissimo announcement. (R. at 5.)  

Alcollezione wanted to follow the trend of hard seltzer waters by 

developing Frizzantissimo. (R. at 5.) After researching the legal regulations 

applying to hard seltzer, Cato found that compliance with the regulations 

“seemed unlikely in the short term” and ultimately “would be an uphill climb.” 

(R. at 5.) Marconi did not care. (R. at 5.) Faced with a foundering stock price (R. 

at 5) and fueled by the company's mission to become the market leader (R. at 

1-3, 5), Marconi insisted that Alcollezione continue with the release of 

Frizzantissimo regardless of potential noncompliance (R. at 5). Marconi said he 

would just “ask for forgiveness” if the company received any blowback. (R. at 

5.) Cato then drafted the false and misleading regulatory assurances, which 

were inserted in the investor materials at the 2017 annual meeting and posted 

online. (R. at 6.) These “assurances” led various American hedge funds to 
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invest in Alcollezione (R. at 6) and ultimately lose millions of dollars from 

Frizzantissimo’s noncompliance with regulations (R. at 7). 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
 

On September 6, 2018, Robert Maxelrod, filed suit on behalf of all 

purchasers of Alcollezione ADRs between the 2017 Annual Meeting and March 

14, 2018 (collectively, the “Petitioners”), against Alcolleione and its former 

executives: Ava Cato (the “Respondent”), Gianni Marconi, and Benny Factor, in 

the United States District Court for the District of Fordham. (R. at 7.) 

Petitioners’ complaint alleged that Allocllezione and its former executives 

issued false assurances that amounted to securities fraud in violation of 

Section 10(b) of the Securities Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5. (R. at 7.) Later in 

September 2018, the Petitioners settled their claim with Alcollezione for an 

undisclosed amount, leaving only the claims against the former executives. (R. 

at 7.)  

On October 17, 2018, the remaining executives each filed separate Rule 

12(b)(6) motions to dismiss the case. (R. at 7.) The District Court rejected the 

motion in part on November 21, 2018, by (1) finding that the executives were 

sufficiently involved in a domestic transaction, (2) granting Factor’s motion to 

dismiss because Petitioners failed to plead sufficient facts against the 

executives that would give rise to a strong inference of scienter, and (3) holding 

that Respondent was subject to primary liability for the misleading statements 

under 10b-5(a) and (c). (R. at 8.) Respondent sought interlocutory appeal for 

issues (1) and (3) above, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1292(b). (R. at 8.) The United 



  P08 

 5 

States Court of Appeals for the Fourteenth Circuit reversed the decision of the 

District Court on both appealed issues. (R at 23.) Petitioners thereafter filed 

petition for certiorari to the United States Supreme Court and were granted 

certiorari on February 3, 2020. (R. at 34.) 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 
 

Under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a plaintiff’s 

complaint “must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a 

claim to relief that is plausible on its face.’” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 

(2009) (quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). A district 

court’s dismissal for failure to state a claim is reviewed de novo. Wormser v. 

Mulligan, 104 F.4th 267, 271 (14th Cir. 2018).  

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 
 

The Fourteenth Circuit’s decision below erred in ruling that (1) the 

domestic exchange of Alcollezione’s ADR did not subject it to Section 10(b) and 

Rule 10b-5; and (2) the Respondent’s misleading statements did not subject 

her to primary liability under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c). 

 First, Rule 10b-5 serves to protect citizens from securities fraud 

stemming from transactions that occur within the United States. Alcollezione’s 

ADRs were traded domestically, and the company should be held responsible 

for their fraudulent misrepresentations that ultimately caused harm to 

American investors. The Supreme Court intended domestic transactions, like 

the one here, to be subject to Rule 10b-5. Even if the location of the 

transaction is not sufficient for Rule 10b-5’s application, and it is necessary to 
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weigh additional factors, Alcollezione and the Respondent’s continual business 

and interactions with the United States should subject them to Rule 10b-5 

nonetheless. 

Second, contrary to the Fourteenth Circuit below, Lorenzo v. SEC is the 

proper controlling precedent under which this case should be decided. The 

Court should factor this case into its analysis and rule in conformity with the 

framework it builds upon. Under Lorenzo, disseminators can be primarily liable 

under the scheme theories of Rules 10b-5(a) or (c) even if they are not the 

“maker” of any false or misleading statements under Rule 10b-5(b). Like in 

Lorenzo, Respondent is a disseminator because the misleading statements she 

drafted were passed out in investor materials and posted online. Even if such 

conduct is not “dissemination,” Respondent’s conduct falls into the ambit of 

Rules 10b-5(a) and (c).  

For the foregoing reasons, the lower court’s judgment should be reversed 

and remanded for further proceedings pursuant to the Petitioner’s securities 

fraud claim.  

ARGUMENT 
 

I. SECTION 10(B) AND RULE 10B-5 APPLY TO PETITIONER’S 

CLAIM BECAUSE THE ALCOLLEZIONE ADR TRANSACTION 
OCCURED IN AMERICA. 

 

The Fourteenth Circuit erred by failing to apply SEC Rule 10b-5 to 

Petitioner’s claim. Under Rule 10b-5, a court need only determine whether a 

transaction is foreign or domestic. By subjecting all securities transactions that 

take place in the United States to Rule 10b-5, the lower court would have 



  P08 

 7 

complied with this Court’s intentions of creating a clear, and easy to apply 

standard across cases. However, even if this Court determines that a 

transaction being domestic is not sufficient—but must also not be 

predominantly foreign—the Respondent’s consistent and knowledgeable 

conduct in the United States should nonetheless subject Petitioners’ claim to 

Rule 10b-5. 

A. Rule 10b-5 applies to Petitioner’s claim because the Alcollezione 
ADR transaction occurring domestically is sufficient. 
 

Section 10(b) of the Securities Act of 1934 provides that: 

It shall be unlawful for any person . . . [t]o use or employ, in 
connection with the purchase or sale of any security registered on a 
national securities exchange or any security not so registered, . . . any 

manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of 
such rules and regulations as the Commission may prescribe. 

 

15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) (2012) (emphasis added). Unless otherwise indicated in a 

statute’s language, U.S. laws naturally have a presumption against 

extraterritorial, meaning that “‘unless there is the affirmative intention of the 

Congress clearly expressed’ to give a statute extraterritorial effect, ‘we must 

presume it is primarily concerned with domestic conditions.’” Morrison v. Nat’l 

Austl. Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. 247, 255 (2010) (quoting EEOC v. Arabian Am. Oil 

Co., 499 U.S. 244, 248 (1991)).  

Morrison held that Section 10(b), and Rule 10b-5 promulgated 

thereunder, did not rebut this presumption, and that Rule 10b-5 applied to 

“domestic” transactions. Id. at 265. The Court then expressed that claims are 

subject to Rule 10b-5 if a foreign company’s security is either: (a) listed on a 
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domestic exchange or (b) part of a “domestic transaction[] in other securities.” 

Id. at 267. OTC transactions, such as those in this case, are analyzed by courts 

under the “transaction” prong. See, e.g., United States v. Georgiou, 777 F.3d 

125, 135 (3d Cir. 2015). Courts have generally agreed that a claim satisfies this 

prong, and is therefore subject to Rule 10b-5, if “irrevocable liability is incurred 

or title passes within the United States.” Absolute Activist Value Master Fund 

Ltd. v. Ficceto, 677 F.3d 60, 67 (2d Cir. 2012); accord SEC v. World Capital Mkt., 

Inc., 864 F.3d 996, 1008 (9th Cir. 2017); Georgiou, 777 F.3d 136. 

1. Morrison’s plain language states that Section 10(b) applies 
to all claims arising out of securities transactions occurring 
within the United States.  

 

“[T]he focus of the Exchange Act is . . . upon purchases and sales of 

securities in the United States.” Morrison, 561 U.S. at 266. When discussing 

issues of extraterritoriality under federal statutes, the Supreme Court has held 

that “[i]f the conduct relevant to the statute's focus occurred in the United 

States, then the case involves a permissible domestic application even if other 

conduct occurred abroad.” RJR Nabisco, Inc. v. European Cmty., 136 S. Ct. 

2090, 2101 (2016) (emphasis added); see also Restatement (Fourth) of Foreign 

Relations Law § 404 cmt. c (Am. Law. Inst. 2018) (“If whatever is the focus of 

the provision occurred in the United States, then application of the provision is 

considered domestic and is permitted.”).  

Therefore, the only explicit requirements Morrison presents for a claim to 

be subject to Rule 10b-5 is that (1) there be purchase or sale of a security and 

(2) the purchase or sale occurs within the United States. Because the 
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transactions took place within the United States, in both Connecticut and New 

York (R. at 4), the second element is satisfied. Therefore, based on the plain 

language of Morrison, the court must only determine whether there was a 

purchase or sale of a security.  

ADRs are securities subject to the Rule 10b-5. ADRs are meant to 

represent an interest in common stock for foreign companies. See Sec. & Exch. 

Comm’n, Investor Bulletin: American Depository Receipts 1 (2012), 

https://www.sec.gov/investor/alerts/adr-bulletin.pdf.   

An ADR effectively serves as an extension of the underlying stock and has 

many of the same characteristics to common stock as a result. See Stoyas v. 

Toshiba Corp., 896 F.3d 933, 939-40 (9th Cir. 2018) (describing several 

similarities between ADRs and stock, including “dividends,” “negotiability,” the 

“ability to be pledged,” “voting rights,” and the “ability to appreciate”). ADRs 

have also already have been treated as securities for purposes of Rule 10b-5 

claims throughout courts. E.g., id.  

 The Petitioners’ claim is subject to Rule 10b-5 because the Alcollezione 

ADR is a security and the transfer occurred within the United States. Morrison 

does not make any disclaimer on which securities it covers, and the 

Alcollezione ADR functionally serves as a stock. Much like standard ADRs, the 

Alcollezione ADR has tracked the rises and falls of the company’s actual stock 

virtually verbatim. (R. at 6.) This economic reality, alongside courts general 

treatments of ADRs akin to stock, necessitate the ADR’s treatment as a 

security for Rule 10b-5 purposes here.  
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 Since the Petitioners’ ADRs are securities that were traded in the United 

States, the Petitioner’s claim is permissible to bring against Respondent under 

the plain language of Morrison. 

2. Even if this court goes beyond a plain text reading of 

Morrison, that case’s intent was to create a clear and 
administrable rule, and thus no additional analysis is 

required. 
 

Morrison made clear that the Court desired to create a “clear test” for 

Rule 10b-5 that led to uniform applications and predictable results. 561 U.S. 

at 269. In the years leading up to Morrison, lower courts struggled in 

determining the extraterritorial reach of the Exchange Act, which resulted in 

inconsistent applications of Rule 10b-5. See Kun Young Chang, Multinational 

Enforcement of U.S. Securities Laws: The Need for the Clear and Restrained 

Scope of Extraterritorial Subject-Matter Jurisdiction, 9 Fordham J. Corp. & Fin. 

L. 89, 108-09 (2003) (“[E]ach court . . . expand[ed] or limit[ed] its jurisdictional 

coverage according to its individual whims . . . . This lack of clear guidance has 

resulted . . . in inconsistent standards.”). Morrison sought to remedy the lower 

courts’ concerns by looking only to “whether the purchase or sale is made in 

the United States.” 561 U.S. at 269-70.  

The Ninth Circuit translated Morrison’s concerns into their application of 

Rule 10b-5 to “domestic purchases and sales” of securities, regardless of 

outside conduct. Stoyas, 896 F.3d at 947-48 (quoting Morrison, 561 U.S. at 

268). This would lead to an easy application of Rule 10b-5 by requiring a court 
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to look only whether a transaction occurred domestically or outside the United 

States. 

On the other hand, the Second Circuit instead held the transaction test 

was “necessary but not necessarily sufficient to make § 10(b) applicable.” 

Parkcentral Glob. Hub Ltd. v. Porsche Auto. Holdings SE, 763 F.3d 198, 216 (2d 

Cir. 2014). In Parkcentral, The Second Circuit set out a two-step approach that 

requires a transaction to (1) be domestic and (2) not be “predominately foreign.” 

Id. Unlike the Ninth Circuit’s bright-line rule, the Second Circuit’s 

predominantly foreign determination looks to various foreign factors 

surrounding the transaction. See id. at 215-16.  

Pre-Morrison, the Second Circuit repeatedly used similar “conduct” and 

“effects” tests to determine whether Rule 10b-5 should apply. E.g., Itoba Ltd. v. 

LEP Grp. PLC, 54 F.3d 118, 121-22 (2d Cir. 1995), abrogated by Morrison, 561 

U.S. 247. “[T]hese [Second Circuit] tests were not easy to administer.” Morrison, 

561 U.S. at 258. Contradicting Morrison, the Second Circuit now continues to 

apply a similar test as taxing as the one before. See Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 

217. The Second Circuit justified continuing their factors analysis by citing the 

Court’s statement that “the presumption . . . would be a craven watchdog 

indeed if it retreated to its kennel whenever some domestic activity is involved 

in the case.” Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 210 (quoting Morrison, 561 U.S. at 266). 

However, the Second Circuit has admitted that Parkcentral’s predominately 

foreign step ultimately lacks support. 
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The Second Circuit’s predominately foreign examination pushes against 

Morrison’s binding authority. The Second Circuit has said that they are unable 

to find language in the Securities Act of 1933 that suggests a factor inquisition 

for Rule 10b-5’s application for extraterritoriality. Bersh v. Drexel Firestone, 

Inc., 519 F.2d 974, 993 (2d Cir. 1975). Morrison criticized the inconsistency of 

the previous Second Circuit factors tests such as this one, pointing to the 

Circuit’s admission that a significant factor in one case “is not necessarily 

dispositive in future cases.” 561 U.S. at 259 (quoting IIT v. Cornfeld, 619 F.2d 

909, 918 (2d Cir. 1980)). The Second Circuit has acknowledged this Court’s 

criticism, saying, “The Court criticized our Circuit's use of the conduct-and-

effects test . . . as unpredictable and difficult to administer.” Parkcentral, 763 

at 210 (citing Morrison, 561 U.S. at 257-59). The Second Circuit has admitted 

that their holdings in both Parkcentral, and its predecessor Absolute Activist, 

677 F.3d 60, “have elaborated on the standards set forth in Morrison” and that 

those plaintiffs “might conceivably be able to draft amended complaints that 

would invoke a domestic application of § 10(b).” Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 218 

(emphasis added). 

The Second Circuit has admitted their Parkcentral test produces 

unpredictable and varying results, and thus show they have ignored the intent 

of Morrison. Because of this, “no Second Circuit case, nor any other Circuit, 

has applied Parkcentral’s rule.” Stoyas, 896 F.3d at 950 n.22. This trend of 

nonapplication should persist here because Parkcentral’s additional 

requirements are neither supported by Morrison, nor the Security Act of 1933’s 
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language. Instead, the Ninth Circuit’s view should be applied because it is truer 

to this Court’s intent in Morrison and leads to a simple and predictable 

application by courts, businesses, and investors. 

B. Even if the domestic nature of the ADR transaction is not 

sufficient, the court should apply Rule 10b-5 in this case because 
the transaction was not predominately foreign. 

 

If this Court choses to consider Parkcentral’s “predominately foreign” 

analysis, the circumstances surrounding the ADR transaction should still 

subject Petitioner’s claim to Rule 10b-5. Parkcentral suggests that when 

determining if conduct is domestic, courts must “make their way with careful 

attention to the facts of each case.” 763 F.3d at 217. Parkcentral does not 

specifically say which factors are important but suggests that cases build off of 

one another to determine what facts are substantial for labeling a transaction 

as either “predominately foreign” or “permissibly domestic.” Id. 217-18. 

When sufficiently distinguishable facts exist, the Second Circuit has 

“declined to extend the Parkcentral analysis.” In re Platinum & Palladium 

Antitrust Litig., No. 1:14-cv-9391-GHW, 2017 WL 1169626, at *27 n.13 

(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 28, 2017) (relating to commodity derivative securities). In 

Atlantica Holdings, Inc. v. BTA Bank JSC, the court made the distinction that 

“[g]iven the differences in the nature of the securities involved in Parkcentral 

from the Subordinated Notes at issue here, . . . Plaintiffs have adequately pled 

that the Exchange Act applies.” No. 13-CV-5790, 2015 WL 144165, at *8 

(S.D.N.Y. Jan. 12, 2015). Another court distinguished their case from 
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Parkcentral saying that BBSW1-based derivative securities were subject to Rule 

10b-5 because the defendant’s intention was to deceive share and derivative 

holders, whereas the Parkcentral defendant’s objective was to permit the 

takeover from another foreign company. Dennis v. JPMorgan Chase & Co., 343 

F. Supp. 3d 122, 182 (S.D.N.Y. 2018). This intention ultimately determined the 

person who was harmed based on their respective ownership rights with the 

securities. 

The Court should not apply a Parkcentral analysis because the 

Alcollezione ADR transaction is a far cry from the transaction in Parkcentral. 

The courts distinguished subordinated notes in Atlantica and the derivative 

securities in Dennis from the swaps in Parkcentral. Alcollezione’s ADR is 

similarly distinct from Parkcentral swap in that (1) a swap’s value does not 

derive from an underlying security, while an ADR’s value does; (2) swaps do not 

have exchanges to help regulate them, while ADRs do; (3) the Parkcentral swap 

was traded on a foreign exchange, while the Alcollezione ADR was traded in the 

United States (R. at 4); and (4) the defendant in Parkcentral did not know about 

the swap, while the Alcollezione did know about the ADR (R. at 4). See Stoyas, 

896 F.3d at 950. All these distinctions made by the Second Circuit suggest that 

another distinct transaction, like the ADR in this case, should be distinguished 

from the facts of Parkcentral as well. 

 
1 BBSW is the Bank Bill Swap Reference Rate. The BBSW is a rate set in 
Australia that is used in the United States and other countries to help price 

certain financial derivatives.  
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The different outcomes in Stoyas and Parkcentral can be explained by 

differences in the facts of each respective case. Parkcentral cautioned that their 

analysis “depends in some part on the particular character of the unusual 

security at issue.” 763 F.3d at 202. In Stoyas, the defendant company was 

trading shares in Japan through the Tokyo Stock Exchange, where they were 

then sold as unsponsored ADRs in America. 896 F.3d at 939. The court 

determined that even if the issuing company did not engage in “formal 

participation” or “acquiescence” in the creation of the ADRs, id. at 941, they 

were still subject to Rule 10b-5, id. at 950. The court reasoned this based on 

an ADR’s extreme similarity to the underlying stock the ADR was representing. 

See id. at 952. This is distinct from the securities in Parkcentral, where the 

court ruled a swap agreement referencing foreign shares was not subject to 

Rule 10b-5. 763 F.3d at 214. In Parkcentral, the company whose shares were 

involved in the swap agreement had no idea about the swap’s existence. Id. at 

204. 

The facts surrounding the ADR here are nearly identical to Stoyas, and 

thus the transaction was permissibly domestic. Both the Stoyas ADR and the 

Alcollezione ADR are virtually identical because they both allow American 

investors to invest in foreign companies. In Stoyas, the court believed that a 

company’s participation in the ADR’s creation was not relevant since an ADR 

was functionally operating as a common stock and the company was aware of 

the ADR’s existence. This reasoning should translate to Alcollezione stock, as 

the rises and falls of the security and ADR price have operated practically as 
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one. (R. at 6.) In addition, Alcollezione was told about ADRs on two occasions 

(R. at 3-4) and were knowledgeable that Alcollezione ADRs were being traded in 

the United States (R. at 4). As Stoyas noted, the swaps being traded in 

Parkcentral were not tied to the value of the underlying security, nor did the 

defendant know about the swap’s existence. The Petitioners’ claim, based on 

the security’s similarities and the company’s knowledge, is far more akin to the 

transaction in Stoyas than in Parkcentral. 

Alcollezione’s refusal to sponsor its ADR should not give it extra 

protections from Rule 10b-5 liability. Sponsoring an ADR already comes with 

obligations such as the issuing company being required to pay costs to the 

facility trading the ADRs. American Depository Receipts, 56 Fed. Reg. 24,420, 

24,422 (May 30, 1991). Even less incentives would exist for a company to 

sponsor an ADR if sponsorship meant a company would be lowering a 

drawbridge to let potential lawsuits in. To ignore the knowledge a defendant 

had about their company’s investors would contravene Parkcentral’s standard 

because there, the company had no knowledge of the swap in question. Here 

Alcollezione clearly knew about the outside investors that could be harmed. (R. 

at 4.) The Respondent knew they were benefitting off of U.S. investments, 

regardless if the ADR was sponsored or unsponsored. By benefiting from 

American investors, Respondent’s conduct was therefore sufficiently domestic. 

 Foreign companies’ need only minimum involvement with the U.S. to 

apply Rule 10b-5. In Giunta v. Dingman, an American wired money to a 

Bahamian businessman for a hospitality venture in the Bahamas after 
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listening to a fraudulent solicitation in New York. 893 F.3d 73, 76-77 (2d Cir. 

2018). The transaction was permissibly domestic even though the transaction 

was meant to support the development of bars and restaurants in the 

Bahamas, the associated entities were incorporated in the Bahamas by a 

Bahamian lawyer, and all records were maintained in the Bahamas. Id. at 82. 

The fact that both parties originally met in New York and communications were 

directed to New York was sufficient for the court to apply Rule 10b-5. See id. at 

82-83. Another foreign company translated its public disclosures into English 

on their website in hopes of soliciting investments from the United States. In re 

Volkswagen “Clean Diesel” Mktg., Sales Practices, & Prods. Liab. Litig., No. 2672 

CRB, 2017 WL 66281, at *6 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 4, 2017). The court said this was 

an instance of the German company’s conduct seeping into the United States. 

Id. 

 The Respondent’s involvement in the U.S. market is sufficient to apply 

Rule 10b-5. Respondent’s consistent engagements with the United States 

shows that they likely intended to reap the benefits from their ADRs trading in 

the United States. The Respondent accompanied her fellow executives to visit 

New York. (R. at 3.) Alcollezione intentionally expanded its markets into the 

United States and consciously understood that their product was popular 

among young Americans. (R. at 3.) These continual overseas business 

interactions show Alcollezione’s intention to engage with the United States, 

especially considering they knew the exact market sector their product was 

affecting. The executives even expressed that they may move back to the United 
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States one day. (R. at 4.) This engagement is far more than the sole meeting 

and few remote communications that took place in Giunta. Giunta did not have 

real cross-border business take place aside from wire transfers. In addition, 

Alcollezione posted “Investor Relations” materials on its website in English (R. 

at 3), likely to target American investors because the CEO and CFO had 

connections from their time there (R. at 1). This is similar to the English 

posting the company in Volkswagen made to target American investors. 

Alcollezione, through these actions, appeared to target America in a way that 

should subject the Petitioners’ claim to Rule 10b-5. 

 The ADR transaction was not predominately foreign because 

Alcollezione’s leadership knew their ADRs were being traded in the United 

States and they ultimately benefited from American investment. Other cases 

within the Second Circuit align with this interpretation as well. For these 

reasons, the court should apply Rule 10b-5 to the Petitioner’s claim because it 

is permissibly domestic. 

II. PER LORENZO, RESPONDENT SHOULD BE SUBJECT TO 
PRIMARY LIABILITY UNDER RULE 10B-5(A) OR (C), EVEN 
THOUGH SHE WAS NOT TECHNICALLY THE “MAKER” OF THE 

FALSE AND MISLEADING STATEMENTS FOR PURPOSES OF 
RULE 10B-5(B) AS DEFINED IN JANUS. 

 

Rule 10b-5 makes it unlawful: “(a) [t]o employ any device, scheme, or 

artifice to defraud, (b) [t]o make any untrue statement of a material fact . . . , or 

(c) [t]o engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or 

would operate as a fraud or deceit . . . in connection with the purchase or sale 

of any security.” 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (2019). The SEC promulgated Rule 10b-
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5 pursuant to its authority under Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act 

of 1934. Janus Cap. Group, Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, 564 U.S. 135, 141-

42 (2011) (citing 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) (2012)). Although neither Rule 10b-5 nor 

Section 10(b) expressly creates a private right of action, this Court has held 

that a private right of action is implied. See Haliburton Co. v. Erica P. John 

Fund, Inc., 573 U.S. 258, 267 (2014); Superintendent of Ins. of N.Y. v. Bankers 

Life & Cas. Co., 404 U.S. 6, 13 (1971). 

 Under Rule 10b-5, however, there is a difference between primary 

liability and secondary liability (i.e. aiding and abetting liability). Lorenzo v. 

SEC, 139 S. Ct. 1094, 1103 (2019). The line between primary and secondary 

liability was first drawn in Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank 

of Denver, N.A., where this Court held that the implied right of private action 

under Rule 10b-5 does not include suits under a theory of secondary liability. 

511 U.S. 135, 191 (1994). Over time, however, the line between primary 

liability and secondary liability has changed. The most recent case regarding 

the line between primary and secondary liability is Lorenzo. Under Lorenzo, the 

subsections of Rule 10b-5 are not mutually exclusive, and disseminators can 

be primarily liable under Rules 10b-5(a) or (c) even if they were not the maker 

of a false or misleading statement for purposes of Rule 10b-5(b).  

With misplaced reliance on Janus Capital Group, Inc. v. First Derivative 

Traders, 564 U.S. 135 (2011) and Justice Thomas’s dissent in Lorenzo v. SEC, 

139 S. Ct. 1094 (2019) (Thomas, J., dissenting), the Fourteenth Circuit 

dismissed the case against Respondent, Ava Cato. The Court held that Ava 
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Cato could not be primarily liable in this private action under any subsection of 

Rule 10b-5 and, at most, her conduct would subject her only to secondary 

liability. Instead, the Fourteenth Circuit should have adhered to the majority 

opinion in Lorenzo, and this case should be remanded for trial in accordance 

therewith. Under Lorenzo, the subsections of Rule 10b-5 are not mutually 

exclusive, and disseminators can be primarily liable under Rules 10b-5(a) or (c) 

even if they were not the maker of a false or misleading statement for purposes 

of Rule 10b-5(b). Here, because Respondent drafted the false and misleading 

regulatory assurances posted in investor materials and on Alcollezione’s 

website, Respondent is the disseminator of those regulatory assurances and 

should therefore be liable under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c). Even if Respondent is not 

a direct disseminator, under Lorenzo, Respondent’s conduct still amounts to 

violations of Rules 10b-5(a) or (c) because she is responsible for the misleading 

statements. 

A. Per the standard set forth in Lorenzo, Respondent is primarily 
liable because she is a disseminator and her conduct amounts to 

violations of 10b-5(a) or (c). 
 

Because Lorenzo is so recent, there is little subsequent case law on point. 

Courts can make the factual determination that, consistent with the facts of 

Lorenzo, a person was a disseminator and by nature of being a disseminator, 

they are therefore subject to primary liability under Rules 10b-5(a) or (c). See 

Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1104-05. Alternatively, courts can apply Lorenzo by 

examining a person’s conduct and determining whether that conduct falls 

within the traditional notions of primary liability under Rules 10b-5(a) or (c) 
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because the subsections of Rule 10b-5 are not mutually exclusive. See Malouf 

v. SEC, 933 F.3d 1248 (10th Cir. 2019); SEC v. Ustian, No. 16 C 3885, 2019 

WL 7486835 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 13, 2019). Through either method, Respondent is 

primarily liable under Rules 10b-5(a) or (c). 

1. Respondent, as in Lorenzo, was a disseminator of false and 

misleading statements and, therefore, is primarily liable 
under Rules 10b-5(a) or (c). 

 

Per Lorenzo, one who disseminates false or misleading statements is 

subject to primary liability under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c), even if they were not the 

“maker” of the false or misleading statements for purposes of Rule 10b-5(b). 

Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1099. In Lorenzo, the Court found the defendant liable 

under Rules 10b-5(a) and (c) as a disseminator because the misleading emails 

he sent constituted both a “‘device,’ ‘scheme,’ and ‘artifice to defraud’ within 

the meaning of subsection (a) of the Rule . . . [and] ‘a[n] act, practice, or course 

of business’ that ‘operate[d] . . . as a fraud or deceit’ under subsection (c) of the 

Rule.” Id. at 1101 (alteration in original) (quoting 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5). The 

Court found that Lorenzo’s conduct made him a disseminator, although it did 

not provide a bright-line rule to determine exactly what conduct makes one a 

“disseminator.” Lorenzo misled investors by sending them email solicitations 

that overvalued a debenture offering for a company. Id. at 1099. The same 

company previously announced to the public that the debenture was 

worthless. Id. Lorenzo drafted and signed the emails as the director of 

investment banking. Id. For these reasons, this Court held that although 

Lorenzo was not a “maker” as defined in Janus, Lorenzo disseminated false and 
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misleading statements, making him primarily liable under the provisions of 

Rules 10b-5(a) or 10b-5(c). Id. at 1104-05. 

Here, Respondent is a disseminator because her conduct substantially 

mirrors the material facts in Lorenzo, and therefore she is primarily liable 

under Rules 10b-5(a) or (c). The record establishes that Respondent extensively 

researched the Italian regulatory landscape regarding alcoholic sparkling 

beverages. (R. at 5.) Based on this extensive research, Respondent came to the 

conclusion that compliance with regulations would be an uphill battle and 

while possible in the long term, compliance was unlikely in the short-term. (R. 

at 5.)  

Despite these conclusions, Respondent drafted assurances that the 

product would be approved and ready for market in the second quarter of 

2018. (R. at 6.) She did so knowing it was unclear whether Alcollezione would 

run afoul of any beverage regulations. (R. at 6.) Respondent then condensed 

these assurances into a disclosure that was subsequently inserted into a slide 

deck and footnoted in the pro-forma financial statements that were passed out 

at the annual meeting and published to the Investor Relations section of 

Alcollezione’s webpage. (R. at 6.) 

While the record is not clear regarding exactly who inserted the false 

regulatory assurances into the presentation to investors or who posted them on 

the Investor Relations page of Alcollezione’s website, like the emails in Lorenzo, 

no person other than Respondent had any significant control over the false 

regulatory assurances. Furthermore, Respondent neither contributed 
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“substantial assistance” to another person nor received “substantial 

assistance” from another person as defined in 15. U.S.C. § 78(t). Respondent 

alone authored the misleading statements. She is not merely a secondary actor. 

The others involved in Alcollezione, the CEO and CFO, are both U.S. natives 

and lacked familiarity with Italian law. (R. at 1-2.) In fact, it is clear that 

Respondent, as General Counsel, was the only one with any control over the 

regulatory affairs of Alcollezione. (R. at 2.) Like in Lorenzo, Respondent’s 

conduct directly misled investors. Respondent, and Respondent only, drafted 

false regulatory assurances knowing that they were going to be disseminated to 

investors in the hope of attracting their investments.  

Respondent’s conduct is sufficiently similar to the conduct in Lorenzo 

such that the Court should hold she is a disseminator, and therefore primarily 

liable under Rules 10b-5(a) or (c). 

2. Even if this Court finds that Respondent was not a 
disseminator of false and misleading statements, her 

conduct still amounts to primary liability under Rule 10b-
5(a) or (c). 

 

 Even if Defendants are not strictly disseminators, their liability may 

persist. See Malouf v. SEC, 933 F.3d 1248 (10th Cir. 2019); SEC v. Ustian, No. 

16 C 3885, 2019 WL 7486835 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 13, 2019). Under Lorenzo, courts 

may engage in a Lorenzo-type analysis to determine whether the person’s 

conduct was a “‘device,’ ‘scheme,’ and ‘artifice to defraud’ within the meaning of 

subsection (a) of the Rule . . . [and] ‘a[n] act, practice, or course of business’ 

that ‘operate[d] . . . as a fraud or deceit’ under subsection (c) of the Rule.” 
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Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101 (alteration in original) (quoting 17 C.F.R. § 

240.10b-5). The lower court engaged in this type of analysis but did so 

incorrectly. The lower court erred by narrowly interpreting Aaron v. SEC, 446 

U.S. 680 (1980) to define the prohibited conduct under Rules 10b-5(a) or (c) 

from a market manipulation standpoint (e.g. insider trading) and not from a 

general fraud standpoint (e.g. misleading investors) to say that Respondent 

therefore cannot be liable. Aaron, however, discusses the scienter requirement 

in all Rule 10b-5 actions. As such, its holding is not limited to just those Rule 

10b-5 actions involving market manipulation.  

 The court below also erred in subsequently focusing on Justice Thomas’s 

dissent in Lorenzo, in which he relies on a bankruptcy case from seven years 

before—RadLax Gateway Hotel, LLC v. Amalgamated Bank, 566 U.S. 639 

(2012). That case narrowly interpreted the subsections of Rule 10b-5 as 

mutually exclusive. But Lorenzo’s 6-2 majority disagreed. ’The purpose of the 

Securities Exchange Act under which Rule 10b-5 is promulgated, however, is 

“to protect investors against false and deceptive practices that might injure 

them.” Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 198 (1976). For this reason, 

Rule 10b-5 is “obviously meant to be inclusive” of a broader range conduct. 

Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. United States, 406 U.S. 128, 151 (1972). The 

majority in Lorenzo thus notes:  

It is “understandable, therefore,” that “in declaring certain practices 

unlawful,” it was thought prudent “to include both a general 
proscription against fraudulent and deceptive practices and, out of 
an abundance of caution, a specific proscription against 

nondisclosure” even though “a specific proscription against 
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nondisclosure” might in other circumstances be deemed 
“surplusage.” 

 

Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1102 (quoting SEC v. Capital Gains Research Bureau, 

Inc., 375 U.S. 180, 198 (1963)).  

 In accord with this notion, the Tenth Circuit in Malouf read Aaron and 

Ernst broadly and held that the SEC reasonably found conduct in violation of 

Rules 10b-5(a) or (c). This was because Malouf actively misrepresented that he 

was independent when he actually had a conflict of interest. Malouf, 933 F.3d 

at 1259. 

Conduct that violates Rules 10b-5(a) or (c) is also exemplified in SEC v. Fiore, 

No. 18-CV-5474 (KMK), 2019 WL 4688538 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 25, 2019). There, the 

SEC brought action against Fiore for misleading investors by disclose his 

ownership interests in penny stocks he was promoting. Id. at *3-4. The court 

noted in reference to the failure to disclose that even if Fiore had not “‘made’ a 

misstatement in furtherance [a] scheme” thereby precluding primary liability 

under 10b-5(b), “[t]he Court's analysis would be the same ‘because “subsection 

(a) and (c) . . . do not require an individual ‘make’ a false statement to establish 

liability.”’” Id. at *7. But mere conduct involving solely fraudulent 

misstatements is sufficient for primary liability under Rules 10b-5(a) or (c). 

SEC v. SeeThruEquity, LLC, No. 18 Civ. 10374 (LLS), 2019 WL 1998027 at *5 

(S.D.N.Y. Apr. 26, 2019). 

 Based on the foregoing cases, Respondent’s conduct—drafting false 

regulatory assurances which were ultimately disseminated to investors—clearly 
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falls into the long-established scope of conduct constituting a “‘device,’ 

‘scheme,’ and ‘artifice to defraud’ within the meaning of subsection (a) of the 

Rule . . . [or] ‘a[n] act, practice, or course of business’ that ‘operate[d] . . . as a 

fraud or deceit’ under subsection (c) of the Rule.” Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101 

(alteration in original) (quoting 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5). 

 Like in Malouf, where the Tenth Circuit affirmed the SEC’s finding that 

active misrepresentations and failing to correct those misrepresentations 

constitutes violations of Rules 10b-5(a) and (c), Respondent’s conduct here also 

amounts to making active misrepresentations to investors. Respondent stated 

that compliance with Italian beverage law would be an “uphill climb ” (R. at 5), 

yet she drafted regulatory assurances stating, in essence, that there would be 

no regulatory issues with Alcollezione’s new product (R. at 6). In other words, 

Respondent drafted assurances which she knew were unlikely to be satisfied. 

Those assurances clearly were never attained because as of March 14, 2018, 

Alcollezione was told it must halt production of Frizzantissimo due to 

noncompliance with quality control standards. (R. at 6.) 

 Likewise, as in Fiore, where the court held that liability could be pursued 

under Rules 10b-5(a) or (c) when the defendant merely failed to correct 

misrepresentations, Respondent authored misleading statements and failed to 

correct them. 2019 WL 4688538, at *7. As such, Respondent’s actions could be 

seen as conduct prohibited by Rules 10b-5(a) or (c). 
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B. The Court would be right to apply Lorenzo as the proper controlling 
precedent. 

 

In 2008, this Court readdressed where the line between primary and 

secondary liability stands. See Stoneridge Inv. Partners, LLC, v. Scientific-

Atlanta, Inc., 552 U.S. 148 (2008). In Stoneridge, Stoneridge sued Charter 

Communications and their customers, Scientific-Atlanta, under Rule 10b-5 for 

allegedly entering into arrangements that fooled auditors into filing a 

misleading report affecting stock price. Id. at 152-52. This Court dismissed the 

claims against Scientific-Atlanta under the theory that Scientific-Atlanta made 

no statements upon which Stoneridge relied. Id. at 166-67. Because Scientific-

Atlanta did not make the statements, the Court held they were not a primary 

actor and, therefore, not liable. See id. Though this Court dismissed the case 

against Scientific-Atlanta for the failure to prove reliance, the facts show there 

was no reliance by Stoneridge because Scientific-Atlanta was not the maker of 

the misleading report itself. See id. at 153. 

Stoneridge set the stage for Janus Capital Group, Inc. v. First Derivative 

Traders, 564 U.S. 135 (2011). In Janus, this Court again addressed the line 

between primary and secondary liability, creating a clear definition for “maker” 

with respect to Rule 10b-5(b). See id at 147-48. In Janus, First Derivative 

Traders, representing a class of shareholders, sued Janus Capital 

Management, a wholly owned subsidiary of Janus Capital Group, under Rule 

10b-5. Id. at 139-40. This Court dismissed the suit against Janus Capital 

Management because they were not the maker of false statements. The maker 
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was Janus Investment Fund, a separate, investor-owned entity created by 

Janus Capital Group, because Janus Investment Fund had ultimate authority 

over the false statements. See id. at 147-48. Thus, Janus Capital Management 

was not the primary actor and could not be held liable. Id.  

The most recent decision after Janus regarding primary and secondary 

liability in Rule 10b-5 actions is Lorenzo. See Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. 1094. In 

Lorenzo, the SEC brought action against Lorenzo because he misled investors 

by sending email solicitations that over-valued a debenture offering for a self-

proclaimed worthless company. Id. at 1099. Lorenzo drafted and signed these 

emails as the director of investment banking of a Staten Island investment 

firm. Id. This Court held that although Lorenzo was not a “maker” as defined in 

Janus, and therefore cannot be subject to primary liability under Rule 10b-

5(b), Lorenzo still disseminated false and misleading statements and could be 

primarily liable under either Rule 10b-5(a) or 10b-5(c). Id. at 1104-05. 

The foregoing cases provide a framework under which Respondent is 

clearly subject to primary liability. The Fourteenth Circuit therefore erred by 

granting Respondent’s motion to dismiss. 

Contrary to the Fourteenth Circuit, the fact that Lorenzo is an SEC 

enforcement action is irrelevant when weighing its authoritative value in this 

case. Even in private actions alleging violations of SEC regulations, the Courts 

are free to draw on SEC enforcement cases or other authoritative private 

actions. See, e.g., Piper v. Chris-Craft Indus., Inc., 430 U.S. 1 (1977). To hold 

otherwise would create results incongruous with the SEC’s mission to “protect 
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investors, maintain fair, orderly, and efficient markets, and facilitate capital 

formation,” What We Do, U.S. SEC. & EXCHANGE COMMISSION, 

https://www.sec.gov/Article/whatwedo.html (last modified June 10, 2013), 

Courts would be free to interpret SEC regulations inconsistent with the SEC’s 

guidance and regulatory procedures. See Christopher R. Leslie, Den of Inequity: 

The Case for Equitable Doctrines in Rule 10b-5 Cases, 81. Calif. L. Rev. 1587, 

1602-03 (1993). The resulting lack of uniformity in Rule 10b-5 interpretations 

would be contrary to the SEC’s mission and to the spirit of the Securities 

Exchange Act in restoring and maintaining faith in the capital markets. See id. 

As the Court in Lorenzo cautioned, some people may also escape liability for 

their harmful conduct all together. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1095. 

Lorenzo is consistent with all prior Supreme Court precedent. But the 

case at hand is vastly different from from Central Bank, Stoneridge, and Janus, 

which further supports the need for Lorenzo’s application. 

The case here does not contradict the standard as set forth by Central 

Bank. Contrary to Central Bank where this Court precluded liability under Rule 

10b-5 for aiding and abetting, Respondent is not alleged to have been merely 

an aider or abettor of one who’s conduct violated Rule 10b-5. (R. at 7.) Rather, 

Respondent is a primary violator of Rule 10b-5 itself by drafting misleading 

regulatory assurances which were passed out to investors at the annual 

meeting and posted online. (R. at 6.) 

Likewise, the case here does not contravene the standards set forth in 

Stoneridge or Janus. Contrary to both the facts of Stoneridge and Janus, 
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Respondent is directly responsible for the misleading regulatory assurances. In 

Stoneridge, for example, this Court dismissed the claims against Scientific-

Atlanta because it was not the entity which made the false audit report. 

Rather, it was the audit firm. Likewise, in Janus, this Court dismissed the 

claims against Janus Capital Management because it was not the entity which 

made the misleading investor prospectus; instead, it was Janus Investment 

Fund. When the person sought to be held liable under Lorenzo is legally 

distinct from the entity that “made” the misleading statements as defined in 

Janus, the person generally will not be held primarily liable. Here, contrary to 

both Stoneridge and Janus, Respondent is a part of Alcollezione as a legal 

entity in the same way Lorenzo was part of his broker-dealer in Lorenzo. (R. 2.) 

Because Respondent is a part of Alcollezione as a legal entity, this Court 

should find her primarily liable under Rules 10b-5(a) or (c) for her conduct just 

as it did in Lorenzo. 

This case is materially different Central Bank, Stoneridge, and Janus; 

and therefore, this Court should continue the analogous precedent in Lorenzo. 

CONCLUSION 

 

For the reasoning herein, Petitioners respectfully request this Court 

request this Court to reverse the decision of the United States Court of Appeals 

for the Fourteenth Circuit. 

Respectfully submitted, 

_______________________/s/ 

Team P08, Counsel of Record for Petitioners 


